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OPEN DATA

Agencies Need Guidance to Establish
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Their Progress is Limited

What GAO Found

The Open, Public, Electronic and Necessary Government Data Act of 2018
(OPEN Government Data Act) codifies and expands open data policy and
generally requires agencies to publish information as open data by default, as
well as develop and maintain comprehensive data inventories.

The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has not issued statutorily-required
guidance for agencies to implement comprehensive data inventories, which could
limit agencies’ progress in implementing their requirements under the act. OMB
also has not met requirements to publicly report on agencies’ performance and
compliance with the act. Access to this information could inform Congress and
the public about agencies’ open data progress and statutory compliance.

Implementation Status of Selected OPEN Government Data Act Requirements

Assessment

Federal data catalogue: By July 2019, the General Services Administration (GSA)

must maintain a point of entry dedicated to sharing agency data assets with the 4
public, known as the “Federal data catalogue”. The Office of Management and

Budget (OMB) and GSA must ensure agencies can publish data assets or links on

the website.

Online repository: By July 2019, OMB, GSA, and the National Archives and

Records Administration (NARA) must collaborate to develop and maintain an online 4
repository of tools, best practices, and schema standards to facilitate the adoption

of open data practices across the federal government.

Implementation guidance: By July 2019, OMB must issue guidance for agencies ®
to implement comprehensive inventories.

Biennial report: By January 2020, and biennially thereafter, OMB must ®
electronically publish a report on agency performance and compliance with this act.

Legend: v Requirement fully met | 8 Requirement not met

Source: GAO analysis of Pub. L. No. 115-435, 132 Stat. 5529(Jan. 14, 2019), resources.data.gov, www.data.gov,
and an interview with OMB staff. | GAO-21-29.

GAO found that all 24 Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act agencies display their
data inventories on their websites, as well as on an online catalogue of federal
data assets. Agencies took a variety of approaches to providing public access to
individual data assets such as using Data.gov as the human-readable public
interface, hosting searchable inventories on their own agency websites and
providing lists of data or downloadable files on their websites.

Information on the extent to which agencies regularly update their data
inventories is limited. OMB and GSA do not have a policy to ensure the routine
identification and correction of errors in electronically published information. The
absence of such a policy limits publicly available information on agency progress.

As of September 2020, seven of the 24 CFO Act agencies had also publicly
released COVID-19 related datasets or linked to related information from their
open data web pages as required by the Federal Data Strategy. These datasets
provide data on a range of COVID-19 related topics including data on disease
transmission and loans provided to businesses.
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Federal agencies create and collect considerable amounts of information
in support of fulfilling their missions. Open data—public access to federal
data that are free to use, modify, and share—hold great promise for
promoting government transparency, engendering public trust in
government, and stimulating entrepreneurship, innovation, and economic
activity.

Open access to the large stores of government data is particularly
important in the current pandemic environment as government agencies,
scientists, and the public work to understand and respond to the
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) using data-focused approaches.
Managing government information as an asset could also create
efficiencies for federal agencies that support mission needs, improve
services and increase public access to information.?

Recognizing the need to make federal government data accessible and
usable for the public, Congress passed and the President signed the
Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018 (Evidence
Act).2 Title Il of the Evidence Act—the Open, Public, Electronic and
Necessary Government Data Act of 2018 (OPEN Government Data
Act)—requires federal agencies to publish their information as open data

10ffice of Management and Budget, Open Data Policy—Managing Information as an
Asset, OMB Memorandum M-13-13 (Washington, D.C.: 2013).

2Pub. L. No. 115-435, 132 Stat. 5529 (Jan. 14, 2019).
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using standardized, nonproprietary formats, making data available to the
public open by default, unless otherwise exempt.3 The act codifies and
expands on existing federal open data policy including the Office of
Management and Budget's (OMB) memorandum M-13-13 (M-13-13),
Open Data Policy—Managing Information as an Asset.

The OPEN Government Data Act requires that agencies develop and
maintain comprehensive data inventories and collaborate with non-
governmental entities, such as stakeholders, researchers, and the public,
to understand how users value and use government data.4 The act also
includes requirements related to agency strategic planning efforts,
including a requirement that each agency have an open data plan that
prioritizes data sets for disclosure on the Federal Data Catalogue.5

In addition to these agency requirements, the OPEN Government Data
Act directs OMB to facilitate agency implementation by issuing guidance
and reporting on agencies’ progress in meeting their open data statutory
requirements. OMB must also collaborate with the General Services
Administration (GSA) to maintain a federal data catalogue of agency
inventories and collaborate with GSA and the National Archives and

344 U.S.C. § 3506(b)(6) as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, § 202(c)(1)(A)(iv).
Throughout this report we refer to Title Il of the Evidence Act —the Open, Public,
Electronic and Necessary Government Data Act of 2018—as the OPEN Government Data
Act. Under the OPEN Government Data Act, the term “agency” means any executive
department, military department, government corporation, government controlled
corporation, or other establishment in the executive branch of the government (including
the Executive Office of the President), or any independent regulatory agency, but does not
include— (1) ourselves; (2) the Federal Election Commission; (3) the governments of the
District of Columbia and of the territories and possessions of the United States, and their
various subdivisions; or (4) government-owned contractor-operated facilities, including
laboratories engaged in national defense research and production activities. 44 U.S.C. §
3502.

444 U.S.C. § 3506(b)(2)(B)(i)(Il) as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, §
202(c)(1)(A)(i). The term “data” means recorded information, regardless of form or the
media on which the data are recorded.

544 U.S.C. § 3506(b)(2)(B)(iv) as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, §
202(c)(1)(A)(i). The priority data sets are also evaluated for a determination under 5
U.S.C. § 552.
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Records Administration (NARA) to develop a repository of tools and
resources to support agencies’ open data efforts.é

The OPEN Government Data Act includes a provision for us to report on
federal agencies’ comprehensive data inventories, among other
requirements.” This report is in partial response to that provision.
Specifically, this report examines the extent to which (1) OMB, GSA, and
NARA met their statutory requirements under the act to facilitate the
establishment of federal agencies’ comprehensive data inventories; and
(2) Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act agencies developed data
inventories in accordance with OMB guidance.8 Consistent with our
mandate under the act, we plan to issue a subsequent report that
examines the value and completeness of the agency open data
inventories.

To assess the extent to which OMB, GSA, and NARA met their statutory
requirements we reviewed the OPEN Government Data Act to determine
the legal requirements for establishing and maintaining comprehensive
data inventories. We compared these requirements to OMB guidance to
see if OMB guidance complied with the requirements.® We also reviewed
websites developed and maintained in fulfillment of OMB guidance or
statutory requirements for a central data catalogue and online

644 U.S.C. § 3511(c)(1), (2) as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, § 202(d)(1).
Specifically, the Director of OMB is required to collaborate with the Office of Government
Information Services, a component of NARA, and the Administrator of General Services,
the head of GSA.

TOPEN Government Data Act, § 202(g)(1).

8The CFO Act, among other things, established the position of agency Chief Financial
Officer in the following 24 agencies, known as the CFO Act agencies: Departments of
Agriculture, Commerce, Defense, Education, Energy, Health and Human Services,
Homeland Security, Housing and Urban Development, Interior, Justice, Labor, State,
Transportation, Treasury, Veterans Affairs, National Aeronautics and Space
Administration, Environmental Protection Agency, Agency for International Development,
GSA, National Science Foundation, Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Office of Personnel
Management, Small Business Administration, and Social Security Administration. 31
U.S.C. § 901(b).

90ffice of Management and Budget, Open Data Policy—Managing Information as an
Asset; and Office of Management and Budget, Phase 1 Implementation of the
Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018: Learning Agendas,
Personnel, and Planning Guidance, OMB Memorandum M-19-23 (Washington,
D.C.:2019).
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repository.’0 We interviewed officials and staff from OMB, GSA and
NARA who were involved in administering and overseeing OPEN
Government Data Act data inventory requirements.

To identify the extent to which CFO Act agencies developed data
inventories aligned with existing OMB guidance, we reviewed all 24 CFO
Act agency websites. To identify whether CFO Act agencies’ open data
inventories meet M-13-13 requirements, we reviewed inventory metrics
available through GSA’s Agency Progress Dashboard.!! Metrics available
through the dashboard include information on the percentage of datasets
in each agency’s inventory with appropriate descriptive information and
working web links. We also interviewed agency officials about the
dashboard’s intent and use.

We also identified the extent to which agencies prioritized publishing
COVID-19 related datasets as directed by the Federal Data Strategy.
OMB issued guidance in March 2020, which directed agencies to
reprioritize work and leverage existing information to support COVID-19
response efforts. Toward that end, the Federal Data Strategy
Development Team directed agencies to prioritize these datasets,
consistent with OMB guidance. Accordingly, we identified COVID-19
related datasets made available on Data.gov or on agency websites as of
September 2020. Additional details on our objectives, scope, and
methodology can be found in appendix .

We conducted this performance audit from January 2020 to October 2020
in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our

10The central data catalogue is a public searchable consolidated resource of government
data, available at https://www.data.gov/ and hosted by GSA. The online repository
provides tools and resources to federal agencies to help them develop and maintain their
open data inventories, available at https://resources.data.gov/.

11GSA tracks several automated metrics regarding the content of agency data inventories
on the Project Open Data Dashboard (referred to in this report as Agency Progress
Dashboard), located at: https://labs.data.gov/dashboard For example, these metrics
include number of public datasets, percentage of datasets with working links to data, and
percentage of datasets that include all required descriptive information. Due to
inconsistencies in this dashboard, we reviewed four quarterly reports (May 2019-March
2020) to determine whether each CFO Act agency appeared at least once. If an agency
appeared at least once during the four reports, we considered it to meet M-13-13’s
standard that inventories can be aggregated by Data.gov.
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findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that
the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and
conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

Government-wide Open
Data Initiatives

The OPEN Government Data Act is one of several government-wide
initiatives focused on improving the public’s access to government
information.'2 For example, during the past 14 years, Congress and the
administration have taken several steps to improve the availability,
transparency, and quality of federal data:

« In 2006, Congress passed and the President, signed the Federal
Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA). This act
requires agencies to report information on federal awards to the
public—such as contracts, grants, and loans.3

e 1In 2013, OMB issued M-13-13. The memorandum directed executive
departments and agencies to make new government information
accessible to the public in open formats, standardize data formats and
locations to access information, and institute strategic planning and
privacy protections for open data.4

« In 2014, Congress passed and the President signed, the Digital
Accountability and Transparency Act (DATA Act). The DATA Act
expanded FFATA to include direct federal agency expenditures and
link contract, loan, and grant spending information to federal programs
so that taxpayers and policy makers can more effectively track federal
spending.15

« In 2016, Congress established the Commission on Evidence-Based
Policymaking (the Commission) to study the availability and use of
evidence, such as data, in government.'®¢ The Commission’s 2017

12Pyb. L. No. 115-435, 132 Stat. 5529, 5534 (Jan. 14, 2019).

13Pub. L. No. 109-282, 120 Stat. 1186 (Sept. 26, 2006), codified at 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note.

140ffice of Management and Budget, M-13-13 Open Data Policy--Managing Information
as an Asset.

15Pub. L. No. 113-101, 128 Stat. 1146 (May 9, 2014).

16Evidence-Based Policymaking Commission Act of 2016, Pub. L. No. 114-140, 130 Stat.
317 (Mar. 30, 2016).
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report states that multiple entities within the federal government (such
as components, agencies, or offices) are responsible for generating
different sources of evidence. However, the Commission noted that
agencies’ capabilities to generate a full range of evidence varied and
their efforts were poorly coordinated.”

« In 2019, Congress passed, and the President signed, the OPEN
Government Data Act. It requires federal agencies to publish recorded
information as open data using standardized, non-proprietary formats,
making data available to the public open by default unless otherwise
exempt.8

e In 2020, the Federal Data Strategy team issued a 2020 Action Plan
(2020 Action Plan) to guide agencies’ initial efforts to establish
processes, build capacity, and align existing work on strategic use of
data.’® The Federal Data Strategy supports the Leveraging Data as a
Strategic Asset Cross-Agency Priority (CAP) Goal. This CAP Goal
focuses on enabling public use of and access to data and improving
use of data for government decision-making and accountability.20

« The May 2020 update to the Federal Data Strategy 2020 Action
Plan directed agencies to prioritize adding COVID-19 response-
related data assets to their comprehensive data inventories when
performing quarterly updates to their inventories. This requirement
is consistent with OMB guidance contained in M-20-16. This
memorandum directs agencies to align agency operations to
support essential work and information sharing due to the COVID-
19 pandemic.2

« The May update to the Federal Data Strategy also extended the
July 31, 2020 deadline for agencies to update and standardize
open data descriptive information (metadata) in their data
inventories to within 90 days of OMB and GSA issuing associated

17Commission on Evidence-Based Policymaking, The Promise of Evidence-Based
Policymaking (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 7, 2017).

18Pub. L. No. 115-435, 132 Stat. 5529, 5534 (Jan. 14, 2019).

19Presidents Management Agenda, Federal Data Strategy Development Team, Federal
Data Strategy 2020 Action Plan (2020).

20CAP Goal, Leveraging Data as a Strategic Asset, accessed August 12, 2020.
https://www.performance.gov/CAP/leveragingdata/. OMB coordinates with agencies to
develop CAP goals. These goals are 4-year outcome-oriented goals covering a number of
complex or high-risk management and mission issues.

210ffice of Management and Budget, Federal Agency Operational Alignment to Slow the
Spread of Coronavirus COVID-19, M-20-16 (Washington, D.C.: Mar. 17, 2020).
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guidance. As of September 2020 this guidance has not been

issued.

Figure 1: Timeline for Open Data Related Statutes and Guidance

FFATA

Federal Funding Accountability
and Transparency Act of 2006

Required OMB to establish a
website to provide information on
grant and contract awards, and
subawards. This website is available
at www.USASpending.gov. (Pub. L.
No. 109-282, 120 Stat. 1186 (Sept.
26, 2006), codified at 31 U.S.C. §
6101 note.)

DATA Act

Digital Accountability and
Transparency Act of 2014

Expands agencies’ required
reporting of federal
expenditure data and directs
OMB and the Department of
Treasury to establish
goverment-wide data
standards. (Pub. L. No.
113-101, 128 Stat. 1146 (May
9, 2014).)

M-13-13

Office of Management and
Budget (OMB) Memorandum

Directed agencies to open data
to the public, create open data
inventories. (Memorandum
M-13-13)

President’s
Management
Agenda

Federal Data Strategy
2020 Action Plan

M-19-23

OMB
Memorandum

Partial guidance for
agencies on implementing
the Evidence Act; directs
agencies to follow their
statutory responsibilities
and OMB Memorandum
M-13-13 until OMB issues
guidance on open data.
(Memorandum M-19-23)

Lists agency actions to
establish consistent data
standards, interoperability,
and skills across agencies.
Includes actions related

to opening data. (Cross
Agency Priority Goal
Leveraging Data as a
Strategic Asset)

Evidence Act

Foundations for Evidence-Based
Policymaking Act of 2018

Requires agencies to enhance
evidence-building capacities, make
data more accessible, and strengthen
privacy protections. Title Il of the
Evidence Act—the Open, Public,
Electronic and Necessary Government
Data Act, requires agencies to publish
information as open data; makes
government information open by
default. (Pub. L. No. 115-435, 132 Stat.
5529 (Jan. 14, 2019).)

Source: GAO analysis of select statutes and information from OMB and the Federal Data Strategy. | GAO-21-29
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Open Data Statutory
Requirements and Policies

The OPEN Government Data Act includes additional requirements and
codifies current practices documented in existing OMB guidance.22 For
example, both the OPEN Government Data Act and M-13-13 require that
agencies publish data inventories on their websites, make public data
available for inclusion in a central government-wide data catalogue, and
use standardized resources and tools for open data. OMB directed
agencies to continue following M-13-13 while they wait for OMB to issue
implementation guidance—known as Phase Il Implementation
guidance—that is required under the act. One key difference between the
existing open data policy and the OPEN Government Data Act is that the
act includes requirements for a broader group of agencies than the
agencies that OMB and GSA monitored under M-13-13.23

The 2020 Action Plan includes specific steps or actions that agencies can
take to implement their requirements in the OPEN Government Data Act.
For example, the 2020 Action Plan includes actions focused on creating a
federal data catalogue, developing an online repository of tools for
agencies and building agency-specific open data plans. While these
actions provide a framework for agencies to implement specific
requirements of the OPEN Government Data Act, some timeframes in the
2020 Action Plan are either contingent on other actions or due after the
statutory deadlines included in the act.

220ffice of Management and Budget, M-13-13 Open Data Policy—Managing Information
as an Asset. New requirements under the OPEN Government Data Act include
establishing chief data officers, requiring that OMB establish implementation guidance for
agencies and criteria for agency determinations on restricting datasets, among others.

23Under OMB memorandum M-13-13, OMB and GSA monitored inventory progress made
by the 24 CFO Act agencies.
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OMB Met Some of Its
Statutory
Requirements, but
Has Not Issued
Implementation
Guidance Nor
Reported on Agency
Progress

OMB met some of the specified statutory requirements to help federal
agencies move forward with data inventories but has not issued required
implementing guidance nor published a required report on federal
agencies’ performance and compliance. The OPEN Government Data Act
contains statutory requirements for OMB, GSA, and NARA related to
agencies’ comprehensive data inventories as shown in table 1 below. The
act requires OMB to coordinate with GSA and NARA to develop and
maintain a federal data catalogue of agencies’ data inventories and to
establish a central website, or repository, of public data assets to facilitate
open data best practices.?4

The act also directs OMB to issue implementation guidance—known as
Phase Il Implementation Guidance—to help agencies meet their
requirements under the act and to publish a report within a year of
enactment and biennially thereafter on agencies’ implementation efforts.
As illustrated in table 1 below, we determined that the requirements to
develop a federal data catalogue and a central website for open data
resources have been met, but the requirements to issue implementation
guidance and report on agency performance and compliance have not
been met.

2444 U.S.C. § 3511(c)(1), (2) as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, § 202(d)(1).
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|
Table 1: Implementation of OPEN Government Data Act Requirements Related to Comprehensive Data Inventories

Select Statutory Requirement Assessment

Federal Data Catalogue

o By July 2019, the General Services Administration (GSA) must maintain a single public v
interface online as a point of entry dedicated to sharing agency data assets with the
public, which shall be known as the “Federal data catalogue.”

« OMB and GSA must ensure that agencies can submit public data assets, or links to public
data assets, for publication and public availability on the interface.

v

Online Repository

. By July 2019, OMB, GSA, and the Office of Government Information Services within the v
National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) must collaborate to develop and
maintain an online repository of tools, best practices, and schema standards to facilitate
the adoption of open data practices across the federal government, which must:

- include any definitions, regulations, policies, checklists, and case studies related to v
open data policy;

« facilitate collaboration and the adoption of best practices across the federal v
government relating to the adoption of open data practices; and

o be made available on the federal data catalogue v

Implementation Guidance

o By July 2019, the Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) Offices of Information and X
Regulatory Affairs and Electronic Government must issue guidance for agencies to
implement comprehensive inventories.

Biennial Report

o By January 2020 and biennially thereafter, OMB must electronically publish a report on X
agency performance and compliance with this act.

Legend: vRequirement fully met || X Requirement not met
Source: GAO analysis of Pub. L. No. 115-435, 132 Stat. 5529 (Jan. 14, 2019), resources.data.gov, www.data.gov and an interview with OMB staff. | GAO-21-29

OMB and GSA We found that OMB, in collaboration with GSA, established an online
Established the Required catalogue where agencies can link their public data listings to Data.gov
Catalogue of Agency for publication as required by the OPEN Government Data Act. This

central portal of agency data assets builds on the Project Open Data
dashboard established to track agencies’ progress implementing M-13-
13. The dashboard includes data assets from CFO Act and other
agencies. Prior to enactment of the OPEN Government Data Act, OMB
and GSA had taken steps to track CFO Act agencies’ progress in
establishing data inventories.

Inventories

According to GSA officials, they provide technical assistance to help
agencies establish and maintain their data inventories as well as ensure
their data are publicly available. While the 24 CFO Act agencies have
already established online inventories, GSA officials told us that they are
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also providing outreach and assistance to non-CFO Act agencies,
including OMB. GSA officials told us they use a list of agencies that have
designated Chief Data Officers (CDO)—a requirement also found in the
OPEN Government Data Act—to help them identify agencies that should
be developing comprehensive data inventories.25 The Chair of the CDO
Council reported that 77 agencies had designated a CDO as of August
2020.

OMB, GSA, and NARA
Established a Central
Website of Open Data
Resources

We found that OMB, GSA, and NARA established, and are now
maintaining, a repository of resources intended to facilitate the adoption
of open data practices across the federal government, as required by the
OPEN Government Data Act.26 The OPEN Government Data Act requires
OMB, GSA, and the Office of Government Information Services (OGIS)
within NARA to collaborate to develop and maintain an online
repository—or central website—of tools, best practices, and schema
standards (definitions of data attributes), to facilitate the adoption of open
data practices across the federal government.2” OMB, GSA, and NARA
developed the resources.data.gov website to comply with the OPEN
Government Data Act. The website replaced Project Open Data, a now-
defunct website established under the previous administration.

GSA officials said they transferred many of the resources hosted on the
Project Open Data website to the resources.data.gov website after the
enactment of the OPEN Government Data Act in 2019. The website is
managed by GSA’s Technology Transformation Services, OMB’s Office
of the Federal Chief Information Officer, Office of Information and
Regulatory Affairs (OIRA), and NARA’s OGIS.28 The repository—
resources.data.gov—is an open source project available on GitHub which
provides an open forum for federal agencies and the public to share
resources and examples of leading practices.?? It includes links to
resources such as tools to assist agencies with development of their data

25Agencies subject to the OPEN Government Data Act are required to identify and appoint
CDOs who are members in the CDO Council. 44 U.S.C. § 3520A, as amended by OPEN
Government Data Act, § 202(f)(1).

26See https://resources.data.gov.
2744 U.S.C. § 3511(c)(2), as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, § 202(d)(1).
28See https://resources.data.gov.

29GitHub is a commercial platform for open-source communities that provides for
collaboration on documentation and code. The Data.gov GitHub website is available at:
https://github.com/GSA/data.gov.
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inventories, playbooks on data governance, data innovation and digital
services, case study examples of open data from selected agencies,
applicable guidance, and a set of resources called Skill builders. Skill
builders provides information on key activities such as identifying data
sets for public release, website best practices, and principles for open
government data.
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Figure 2: OPEN Data Resources Page on Skills Development

EE= An official website of the United States government Here's how you know v

Welcome to resources.data.gov. This is a work in progress version of a new site on federal data resources.

7% resources.data.gov D slossary
\4 J Arepositor of Federal Enterprise Data Resources [ n

Resources Vv Data standards ~ Communities  About “

Skills development

Guides, tutorials, and personnel-related resources to build
and develop a data-savvy workforce

Data Scientist Titling Guidance & source

Office of Personnel Management
Thi:s memo pro.vides ti.tlipg guidanc.e> to agency Hume.m Resourcgs Keywords
Offices for use in classifying data science positions within agencies. position description. data analytics.

data management, data visualization,
data cleaning, workforce development

Source
How to Get Your Agency’s Data on to Data.gov @' igital.gov

Keywords
open data, workforce development,

data sharing

Format
Video (45 mins)

Webinar guide to using data.gov, produced by DigitalGov University,
an initiative of the General Services Administration.

Source: Resources.data.gov website (https://resources.data.gov/categories/skills-development/) Accessed July 9, 2020. | GAO-21-29
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OMB Has Not Issued
Comprehensive Data
Inventory Implementation
Guidance

The OPEN Government Data Act requires OMB to issue implementation
guidance by July 14, 2019, that includes requirements for each agency to:
(1) include metadata on each data asset; (2) describe how to access
each data asset; and (3) exclude any data asset that includes national
security information, among other requirements.30 The act also directs
OMB to include criteria to help agencies determine whether a particular
data asset should not be made publicly available. The criteria must take
into account, among other things, the risks and restrictions related to
disclosure of personally identifiable information, security considerations,
and the costs and benefits to the public of converting the data into a
format that can be understood and used by the public.

OMB did not meet its statutory requirement for issuing guidance to
agencies regarding comprehensive data inventories. As of September
2020, OMB had not issued Phase Il implementation guidance. Minutes
from the August 4, 2020, Open Data Working Group indicate that the
Phase Il guidance is in draft form and, according to OMB staff, OMB
plans to send it to agency Chief Data Officers for review after OMB has
completed its internal review. Under the Evidence Act, OMB issued what
is referred to as Phase | implementation guidance in July 2019.31 This
guidance directed agencies to continue following existing open data
policies under M-13-13 and OMB Circular A-130 until Phase Il guidance
is issued.32

While agencies may continue to make progress on the open data
requirements specified in M-13-13, progress on meeting the additional
requirements specified in the OPEN Government Data Act could be
delayed in the absence of the Phase Il guidance. As a result of the
absence of implementation guidance, agencies do not have clarity on
timeframes for meeting their requirements under the OPEN Government

3044 U.S.C. § 3511(a)(2)(A), as amended by OPEN Government Data Act, § 202(d)(1).
OMB is to issue the implementation guidance 180 days after the January 14, 2019
enactment of the Evidence Act. Pub. L. No. 115-435, § 403.

310MB M-19-23: Phase 1 Implementation of the Foundations for Evidence-Based
Policymaking Act of 2018: Learning Agendas, Personnel, and Planning Guidance.

320ffice of Management and Budget, Managing Information as a Strategic Resource,
OMB Circular A-130 (July 28, 2016). OMB Circular A-130 establishes general policy for
the planning, budgeting, governance, acquisition, and management of federal information,
personnel, equipment, funds, information technology resources, and supporting
infrastructure and services.
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Data Act or guidance to help prioritize data assets for publication in their
data inventories.

In January 2020, OMB staff said that OMB was deliberating on the Phase
Il Implementation guidance and had not established a timeline for issuing
the guidance. OMB staff explained that while they do their utmost to meet
statutory timelines, developing guidance requires engaging with agencies
through a variety of interagency working groups to provide technical
assistance and learning what additional guidance agencies need to help
them comply with their statutory responsibilities.

OMB Has Not Reported As of September 2020, OMB has not issued a publicly available report on
on Agency Performance agency performance and compliance, the first in a series of biennial
and Compliance reports required under the act. The act requires OMB to issue its first

report on agency performance and compliance with the act within 1 year
of enactment and biennially thereafter.33 In January 2020—1 year after
enactment—OMB staff told us that they were deliberating on a report
format and did not have a timeframe for issuing the report.

Without OMB’s report on agency performance and compliance with the
OPEN Government Data Act, Congress and the public lack key
information about the extent to which agencies are meeting their
requirements under the act, including whether agencies have made all
required data assets open and available to the public.

CFO Act Agencies
Published Open Data
Inventories, but Data
Quality Limitations
Hinder the Ability to
Track Agency
Progress

33Pub. L. No. 115-435, § 202(g)(2).
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Open Data Inventories
Vary in How They Are
Displayed on Agency
Websites

All 24 CFO Act agencies posted their open data assets on their agency
websites in a format that allowed for automatic aggregation into
Data.gov.34 All 24 CFO Act agencies met the requirement for publicly
posting their data assets on their respective websites. We identified
human-readable agency data inventories and machine-readable public
data listings for each agency, but the location of the information varied.
For example, some agencies described their open data efforts or
provided a link to Data.gov on the required webpage, but posted their
inventory on a different page on their website.

As illustrated in figures 3, 4, and 5 below, the 24 CFO Act agencies took a
variety of approaches to allow the public to access individual data sets
within their inventories. For example:

« Six out of the 24 CFO Act agencies provided a human-readable public
interface for their data listings through Data.gov, as illustrated in figure
3.

« Nine out of the 24 agencies hosted searchable data inventories on
their own websites, as illustrated in figure 4.

« The remaining nine agencies provided human-readable lists of data or
downloadable Excel files on their websites, but did not have search
and filter capabilities, as illustrated in figure 5.

34Under existing open data policy from OMB Memorandum M-13-13, agencies must
provide access to their data assets on a uniform website (www.agency.gov/data) and in a
format that allows for automated aggregation to Data.gov. According to GSA officials,
Data.gov automatically harvests agencies’ data files if they are in the “.json” format and
located at www.agency.gov/data.json. For initial setup of the automated harvest, an
agency must notify GSA that it has a data listing that meets these standards.
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Figure 3: Example of Human Readable Public Interface on Data.gov
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GSA DCOI Strategic Plan

Under the Data Center Optimization Initiative (DCOI), covered agencies are required to post DCOI Strategic
Plans and updates to their FITARA milestones publicly
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A ¢ GSA IT Reform Cost Savings/Avoidance
Topics GSA IT provides data related to Agency IT initiatives that save or avoid expenditures.
@@ Clear All This data is provided as a requirement of OMB's Integrated Data Collection (IDC) and...

There are no Topics that match
this search
GSA IT Policy Archive Zip
Y A compressed zip file containing all of GSA's public IT policy documents, posted publicly at
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Clear All [P |

There are no Topic Categories GSA FITARA Actions and Milestones
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geospatial (1)

Source: GAO snapshot of Data.gov website (https://catalog.data. gov/organization/gsa-gov), accessed July 8, 2020. | GAO-21-29
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Figure 4: Example of Searchable Data Catalogue on Agency Website
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